A.

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner Albert McClw·e asks this Court to accept review of the 

Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this 

petition. 

B. 
COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

McClure seeks review of the unpublished opinion filed in City of 

Vancouver v. McClure, 43682-5-II. See Exhibit 1. 

c. 
ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

Where the trial court told the jury that Mr. McClure went 

into the victim's place ofwork "maybe dozens of times," asked the 

victim if she "wanted to go on a date with him", and asked the 

victim if she had ever been stalked and where these comments 

conveyed his belief that certain contested facts were true, did the 

trial court violate Const. Art. IV, § 167 

D. 
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Erika Hamilton worked at Subway in Vancouver, Washington 

between April and August, 2010. CP 139; RP 113. Albert McClure came 
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in three nights a week. CP 140; RP 114. Hamilton stated that she was 

friendly with McClure when he came into the store. She said: 

He would just come in pretty frequently usually around the 
time I would close the shop. He always came, eat a 
sandwich, be very talkative, friendly, tipped well and that 
was basically it. I mean I had a couple of talks with him 
outside of Subway but he was a pretty frequent customer. 

CP 142; RP 116. McClure told Hamilton that she was pretty. CP 143; RP 

117. He also asked for her number so that he could call in his sandwich 

orders. !d. According to Hamilton, McClure also asked her out on a date 

but she declined. CP 144; RP 117-18. 

According to Hamilton, she initially thought he was just a friendly 

person. But: 

Eventually I wrote down his license plate and took a picture 
of his car because it was starting to alarm me to the point 
where I wanted, you know, if something happened to me I 
wanted to have someone be able to look and see ... this 
person so I did that and eventually I started telling my co
workers about what was going on. 

RP 118. She also told her grandparents and "they seemed very alarmed by 

it." !d. But when she told her manager, "I felt that my employer wasn't 

listening to me and my fears." CP 146; RP 120. Her manager did, 

however, offer to videotape the store when McClure was there. CP 159-

60; RP 133-34. There was a closed circuit television system that 

managers could view- even from a remote location. CP 173; RP 14 7. 
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Hamilton testified that she was "scared that he would get upset by 

me turning him down." CP 146; RP 120. One day, McClure showed up 

with his boat and asked her if she wanted to go for a ride. She said no and 

"he seemed like angry with me." CP 147; RP 121. She stated that she 

"felt like I was followed home by him." CP148; RP 122. 

On August 9, 2010, someone called her and said "I have been 

thinking about you all the time, I am going crazy ifl can't have you, I 

don't know what I am going to do." CP 149; RP 123. She could not 

identify the caller as McClure. CP 161; RP 135. At that point, McClure 

had not been in the store for some time. CP 153; RP 127. Hamilton then 

called the police. After the telephone call, she started having panic 

attacks. CP 151; RP 125. 

Hamilton never asked McClure to leave the store because "It's his 

right to eat there." CP 158; RP 132. And she had her employer's 

permission to "kick him out of the store." !d. Hamilton noted that 

McClure came in at the same time every night, sat in the same seat and 

ordered the same thing. CP 166-67; RP 140-41. She agreed that he was 

very habitual. C170; RP 141. 

She also told defense counsel that she thought the entire thing was 

her "mind playing tricks on her." RP 138. She also told others that she 

"might just have been paranoid." RP 143. She never told McClure to 
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leave her alone and she was nice to him even though she didn't like 

talking to him. RP 144. 

When contacted by the police, McClure was very upset that he was 

being accused of stalking or harassing Hamilton. CP 197-98; RP 171-72. 

Kevin Chumbley testified that McClure came to his smoothie shop 

at least once a day. CP 216; RP 190. He would always have the same 

drink. !d. McClure talked to Chumbley, employees and other customers. 

CP 217; RP 191. 

Mathew Aiello managed a Starbucks in the same strip mall as 

Subway. CP 220; RP 194. McClure was a frequent customer. Id. None 

of the employees ever complained about him. CP 221; RP 195. 

McClure testified and presented records of his sales transactions 

that demonstrated that he was regularly at the smoothie shop, Starbucks 

and other fast food restaurants. CP 231-32; RP 205-06. He admitted that 

he had frequent conversations with Hamilton at Subway but that he never 

wanted to date her. CP 250-51; RP 224-25. He said that the accusation 

had upset him terribly. CP 254; RP 228. He denied following Hamilton 

or trying bothering her. CP 256; RP 230. 

The issue in this case relates to Judge Zimmerman's introduction 

of the case to the jury. He said: 
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[T]he City Of Vancouver has brought a charge forward 
against Albert McClure. The charge against Mr. McClure 
is that of called stalking where it's alleged in the period of 
time of Aprill Oth, 201 0 to August 1Oth, 2010 without 
lawful authority he did intentionally and repeatedly harass 
or follow a person by the name of Erika Hamilton and so 
you understand again the nature of the case is that Ms. 
Hamilton works at a Subway sandwich shop. I think she 
was of age 17 at the time if I remember correctly and 
allegations are going to be and obviously get more specific 
as to the times that maybe as much as dozens of times he 
went into that particular store, chatted with her, asked her I 
guess for dating proposes I think if she wanted to go on a 
date with him and at some point in time maybe even asked 
her if she'd ever been stalked before. So they're going to 
get into a lot more details but that's sort of what I'll call the 
flavor of the case that she obviously felt uncomfortable and 
eventually notified the police and that ended up being 
charged with the offense of stalking. Okay? And to that 
particular charge he's entered a plea of not guilty. 

CP 27; RP 1. Later, in opening remarks to the jury referencing timing, the 

court told the jury: 

And I give you some choices but again I probably have 
done more jury trials than any judge in the state of 
Washington. Guess I've been around a long time and was a 
prosecutor too so I can't remember a jury pretty much ever 
saying they didn't want to get done with it but it's up to 
you. So again I give you that choice as to whether or not 
you want to come back tomorrow and deliberate but for 
right now I need to make sure eve body's [sic] going to be 
here and have no, you know, long standing commitments 
for this afternoon or this evening. 

CP 43; RP 17. 
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The jury returned a verdict of guilty. McClure filed a RALJ appeal 

and argued that Judge Zimmerman's comments violated Const. art. IV,§ 

16. The Superior Court judge found: 

In this case, the trial judge's description of the charges 
against McClure contained a number of statements which 
could arguably be described as comments on the evidence, 
if read insolation. It was both unnecessary and improper to 
attempt to recall how many times McClure went to a 
particular store, whether he indicated that he wanted to go 
on a date with Hamilton, or ask her if she's ever been 
stalked. It was especially inappropriate to, in providing the 
jury with a "flavor of the case", to indicate to jurors that 
Hamilton "obviously felt uncomfortable" as a result of 
McClure's behavior. These remarks were perilously close 
to a constitutional violation, and the district court judge is 
admonished to provide more abbreviated and neutral 
statement of the charge in future cases. 

CP 375. However, the RALJ judge refused to reverse the conviction 

because, in other places, the trial judge couched his remarks as 

"allegations" and told the jury that McClure had entered a plea of not 

guilty. RP 375. 

In a split decision, the Court of Appeals affirmed McClure's 

conviction. Two members of the Court of Appeals found that the trial 

judge's comments were not a comment on the evidence and, if they were, 

they were harmless. The dissenting judge held that the trial judge's 

comments expressly conveyed that certain facts testified to by the 

complaining witness were true and bolstered that witness's credibility. 
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Slip Opinion at 13. That judge also held that the comments were not 

harmless because this was a "he said, she said" case with no independent 

evidence. Id at 14. 

E. 
ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW BECAUSE THE 
MAJORITY'S DECISION CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S 
OPINION IN STATE V. LANE, 125 WN.2D 825,889 P.2D 929 
(1995), AND VIOLATES CONST. ART. 4, SECTION 16. RAP 
13.4(B)(1) AND (3). 

Article 4, section 16 of the Washington Constitution prohibits 

judges from commenting on the evidence. Const. art. IV, § 16 ("Judges 

shall not charge juries with respect to matters of fact, nor comment 

thereon, but shall declare the law."); State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 657, 

790 P.2d 610 (1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1046, 111 S.Ct. 752, 112 

L.Ed.2d 772 (1991). "A statement by the court constitutes a comment on 

the evidence if the court's attitude toward the merits of the case or the 

court's evaluation relative to the disputed issue is inferable from the 

statement." Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 838 (citing State v. Hansen, 46 Wn. App. 

292,300,730 P.2d 706 (1986), affirmed, 737 P.2d 670 (1987)). 

Circumstances to consider in determining whether the trial judge 

commented on the evidence include: (1) whether the comment resolves a 

contested fact, (2) whether the statement addressed a witness's credibility, 
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or (3) whether the remarks were isolated or cumulative. State v. Sivins, 

138 Wn. App. 52, 59, 155 P.3d 982 (2007). 

First, the two majority judges stated that the court commissioner 

"designated" only two statements for review. This is simply not true. The 

ruling granting review states that McClure's "issue on the judge 

commenting on the evidence in his summary at the beginning of 

trial.. .meets the criterion contained in RAP 2.3(d)(1)." See Exhibit 2. 

And, it is true that he cited to a portion of the judge's comments as an 

example. But the grant of review states that "discretionary review of the 

superior court's decision on the comment on the evidence issue is 

warranted under RAP 2.3(d)(1)." McClure cited to two recitations by the 

trial judge in his Motion for Discretionary Review, at pages 5-6. See . 

Exhibit 3. Those were the comments the Commissioner considered in 

granting review. 

Moreover, limiting the review of the trial court's improper 

comments conflicts with the Supreme Court's statement in Lane that the 

Court's jurisprudence "demonstrate[s] adherence to a rigorous standard 

when reviewing alleged violations of Const. art. 4, § 16." State v. Lane, 

125 Wn.2d 825 at 838. Here, the majority opinion applies a very lax 

standard, excusing the trial judge's statement as simply a "flavor" of the 

case. 
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The touchstone of en-or in a trial court's comment on the evidence 

is whether the feeling of the trial court as to the truth value of the 

testimony of a witness has been communicated to the jury. Lane, 125 

Wn.2d at 838, citing State v. Trickel, 16 Wn. App. 18, 25, 553 P.2d 139 

(1976), review denied, 88 Wn.2d 1004 (1977). It does not matter what the 

trial court "intended." It matters that the trial court communicated to the 

jury that Hamilton was credible and that she "obviously" was harassed by 

McClure. RP 1. The trial judge told the jury that McClure contacted 

Hamilton "dozens of time" and asked her out on a date. 

Second, the majority opinion refused to apply the mandatory 

presumption that the comments were prejudicial once it has been 

demonstrated that a trial judge's conduct or remarks constitute a comment 

on the evidence. Lane, 125 Wn.2d at 838, citing State v. Bogner, 62 

Wn.2d 247, 249, 253-54, 382 P.2d 254 (1963). Instead, the majority 

opinion assumes that there was some reservoir of "untainted" evidence in 

this case. But as the dissenting judge carefully pointed out, this case 

consisted of two diametrically opposing sets of facts- those testified to by 

Hamilton and those testified to by McClure. Hamilton's testimony was 

"tainted" by the trial judge's comments that supported her credibility. 
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Thus, the only "untainted" evidence left was McClure's claim of 

innocence.! 

Moreover, as pointed out by the dissenting judge, the jury 

instructions did not solve this problem. The comments made by the trial 

judge were not isolated or trivial. It is true that the jury was told that 

determining credibility was their job, but there was no clear instruction to 

them to ignore the trial judge's statements that presumed the credibility of 

the State's case. The dissenting opinion reflects the correct resolution of 

this case. 

F. 
CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated above review should be granted.