No. 89765-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CITY OF VANCOUVER, Respondent

v.

ALBERT MCCLURE, Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Attorney for Respondent:

Ted Gathe City Attorney Vancouver, Washington

Jonathan C. Schetky, WSBA #43601 Assistant City Attorney

VANCOUVER CITY ATTORNEY'S OFFICE PO Box 1995/415 W. 6th St. Vancouver, WA 98668 (360) 487-8500 (360) 487-8501 (FAX)

II. IDENTITY OF PARTIES

The City of Vancouver, by and through Jonathan C. Schetky, Assistant City Attorney, responds to Petitioner's motion for discretionary review and respectfully requests that review be denied.

Albert McClure, Petitioner, Appellant, and Defendant below, has asked this Court to accept discretionary review of the decision entered in the Court of Appeals, Division Two, Numbered 43682-5, affirming the conviction of Petitioner and terminating review.

III. DECISION BELOW

The Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals Division Two decision below. In case No. 43682-5, a majority opinion upheld the Petitioner's District Court conviction for the crime of Stalking.

The Court of Appeals' opinion stated that statements made by the District Court Judge—made when he summarized the case for the entire jury venire prior to jury selection—did not constitute comments on the evidence. The Court's opinion further stated that, even if the statements had been comments on the evidence, any resulting error would have been harmless.

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Should the Unpublished Opinion filed by the Court of Appeals below be reviewed pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b) (1) or (3)?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Between April and August of 2010, Erika Hamilton (the victim) worked at a Subway restaurant located in the City of Vancouver, WA. (Report of Proceedings ("RP") at 113:18-20; 168:16-17). At the time, Ms. Hamilton was 17 years old (RP at 115:6). Almost immediately after she began working there, Albert McClure (the petitioner) began coming in to the Subway restaurant at least 3 times per week (RP at 114:10-13). Mr. McClure was "much older" than Ms. Hamilton-reportedly about 40 years old at the time (RP at 118: 6; 170: 9). In the beginning, Mr. McClure appeared to be "acting flirty" towards Ms. Hamilton, asking her if she had a boyfriend, for example (RP at 114:20). On one occasion, Ms. Hamilton found Mr. McClure waiting in his car outside the restaurant about 40 minutes after he had eaten and left the restaurant (RP at 115:16; 116:2). When Ms. Hamilton exited the store, Mr. McClure exited his car, approached Ms. Hamilton, and engaged her in conversation-an incident Ms. Hamilton described as being "odd" (RP at 116: 4-8). Mr. McClure often came in to the restaurant right around the time Ms. Hamilton was

closing, and there were a few more incidents where Ms. Hamilton saw Mr. McClure outside the restaurant as well (RP at 116:13-16). On another occasion, Mr. McClure told Ms. Hamilton that his kid would think she was pretty (RP 117:4). On another occasion, Mr. McClure asked Ms. Hamilton if she'd ever been stalked before, which she described as "kind of alarming" (RP at 117:5-6). Later, Mr. McClure asked Ms. Hamilton for her cell phone number (RP at 117:12).

As time went on, Ms. Hamilton felt "more alarmed and more frightened" as a result of Mr. McClure's contacts with her (RP at 117: 17). Ms. Hamilton felt that the encounters became "more odd," noting that Mr. McClure would be there almost an hour after coming in and eating his sandwich, and would be waiting outside (RP at 117:19-20). Ms. Hamilton felt "alarmed," and thought the behavior "sent up red flags" (RP at 117:21). At this point, Mr. McClure also alluded to wanting to take Ms. Hamilton out on a date, which she rebuffed (RP at 117:22-118:4).

In response to her growing concerns about Mr. McClure, Ms. Hamilton was alarmed enough to write down Mr. McClure's license plate number and took a picture of his car "in case anything happened" to her (RP 118:9-11). Ms. Hamilton ultimately informed her coworkers and managers of her concerns (RP 118:12-13). Ms. Hamilton also informed

her grandparents of her concerns, whose alarm resulted in her grandfather parking and waiting for her outside of the restaurant on nights when she closed alone (RP 118:16-21). During one contact, Mr. McClure told Ms. Hamilton that his ex-girlfriend was a gold digger and that he hated her, and then told Ms. Hamilton that she "[didn't] seem like that at all," that she would "never do that" to him, and that she was "perfect" (RP at 119:2-5).

In response to these contacts, Ms. Hamilton tried to switch shifts so she wouldn't be working late alone, and would sometimes lock up early in hopes of preventing Mr. McClure from coming in to the restaurant (RP 119:17-21). Ms. Hamilton felt concerned that Mr. McClure appeared to be "sinking" and "wasn't in the same reality" (RP 120:12). She was worried that he would get upset as a result of her turning him down, was concerned that he might "get aggressive" towards her, that he may "lash out" if she continued turning him down, that he may "assault" her or get upset and "take [her] somewhere," and that she was "scared" (RP 120:11-19). At one time, Mr. McClure asked Ms. Hamilton for her phone number and invited her out on his boat; when she refused Mr. McClure became angry (RP 120:22-121:5).

///

Mr. McClure began driving by the restaurant at times when Ms. Hamilton was closing, and Ms. Hamilton began having other employees take Mr. McClure's orders while she waited in the back until he left the restaurant (RP 121:9-18). On one occasion, Ms. Hamilton suspected that Mr. McClure had followed her home, and then suspected that Mr. McClure had driven through her neighborhood late at night on occasion afterwards. (RP 122:15-123:1). One such incident concerned Ms. Hamilton to the point that she woke up her grandfather, told him to get the gun, and walked around the perimeter of her home as a precaution (RP 123:1-5). Later, Ms. Hamilton received a call at work after closing, from a man who appeared to be attempting to disguise his voice, who she suspected to be Mr. McClure (RP 123:17-18; 125:3-6). The caller told Ms. Hamilton that he had been "thinking about [her] all the time," that he was "going to go crazy if [he] can't have [her]," and that he "[didn't] know what [he was] going to do" (RP 123:19-21). The phone call "shook up" Ms. Hamilton to the point that she was physically shaking, almost crying, and was afraid to even go outside (RP 123:21-124:3). As a result, Ms. Hamilton said she was "very, very scared," "was having panic attacks at that point closing shop," and that she was "terrified" (RP 125:8-9). Ms. Hamilton also stated she was scared that Mr. McClure may hurt her (RP 145:15-16).

A jury trial was held in Clark County District Court on June 9, 2010. The jury found Mr. McClure guilty of the crime of Stalking. The Petitioner filed a RALJ appeal and the Superior Court upheld the conviction in an opinion dated June 14, 2012. The Petitioner subsequently petitioned the Court of Appeals for discretionary review. Discretionary review was granted on September 24, 2012. Upon review, the Court of Appeals ultimately affirmed the Petitioner's conviction in an unpublished opinion filed on December 10, 2013.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. The Decision of the Court of Appeals is Consistent with the Prior Decision of the Washington State Supreme Court in *State v. Lane*.

Petitioner first seeks discretionary review under RAP 13.4 (b) (1), asserting that the decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with the decision of the Supreme Court in *State v. Lane*, 125 Wn.2d 825 (1995).

1. NOT A COMMENT ON THE EVIDENCE

Petitioner contends—contrary to the holding of the Court below that the summary of allegations given by the District Court Judge to the entire jury venire constituted a comment on the evidence. Petitioner then argues that, under *Lane*, comments on the evidence require reversal. As a result, Petitioner asserts that the decision of the Court below is in in conflict with *Lane*.

However, in its majority opinion, the Court of Appeals properly states and applies the standard set forth in *Lane* in evaluating whether or not the District Court Judge's summary of the allegations constituted judicial comments on the evidence.¹ The Court then held that, under *Lane*, the Judge's summary of the allegations did not amount to a comment on the evidence, and therefore did not require reversal of the Petitioner's conviction.

Petitioner merely disagrees with the conclusion reached by the Court below, and not with the law or standard applied by the Court. Petitioner now seeks to re-argue the issue, which has already been properly considered and decided by the Court below.

- ///
- 111
- ///
- ///

¹ "A judge's statement is a comment on the evidence if it conveys or implies the court's opinion on the merits or an evaluation of a disputed fact or issue." Slip Opinion at 5 (citing *Lane*, 125 Wn.2d at 838).

2. HARMLESS ERROR

Petitioner further contends—again, contrary to the holding of the Court below—that there would not have been sufficient untainted evidence to sustain a conviction if the summary of allegations had been a comment on the evidence. Petitioner then argues that reversal would be required under *Lane* without overwhelming untainted evidence.

However, the Court of Appeals concluded that reversal would not have been required even if the summary of allegations had been a comment on the evidence. The Court found that any resulting error would have been harmless after properly stating and applying the overwhelming untainted evidence test set forth in *Lane*.²

Again, Petitioner merely disagrees with the Court's conclusion that overwhelming untainted evidence would have existed even if the summary of allegations had constituted a comment of the evidence. Petitioner now seeks to re-argue the issue, which has already been properly considered and decided by the Court below.

///

///

² "For the record to demonstrate harmless error, overwhelming, untainted evidence must have "necessarily [led] to a finding of guilt."" Slip Opinion at 6 (citing *Lane*, 125 Wn.2d at 839).

B. No Significant Question of Law is Raised by the Decision of the Court of Appeals.

Petitioner further seeks discretionary review based upon RAP 13.4 (b) (3), asserting that the decision of the Court of Appeals involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington.

No significant question of law is raised by the decision below. The Court of Appeals relied on, and properly applied, established law regarding judicial comments on the evidence. Simply disagreeing with the decision reached below does not raise a significant question of law.

Further, the Court elected not to publish their opinion. Under R.C.W. 2.06.040, decisions having precedential value are to be published. GR 14.1 (a) states that unpublished opinions may not be cited as authority. As such, the decision of the Court below will have no impact beyond the individual whose case has been decided, and therefore does not raise a significant question of law that calls for review by the Washington State Supreme Court.

/// ///

///

VII. CONCLUSION

Petitioner fails to establish that the decision below should be reviewed pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b) (1) or (3). As such, this Court should deny the Petitioner's Motion for discretionary review.